IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EDDIE TIMMS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-00955

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT EDDIE TIMMS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HOLMES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Lisa M. Ross, Esq. MSB NO 514E East Woodrow Wilson Avenue P.O. Box 11264 Jackson, MS 39283-1264 (601) 981-7900 (Telephone) (601) 981-7917 (Facsimile)

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT EDDIE TIMMS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EDDIE TIMMS

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

NO. 2009-KA-00955

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellant Eddie Timms certifies that the following

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On or about May 4th and 8th 2009, Eddie Timms (hereinafter "Timms") was tried before a jury in the Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi on charges of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and possession of a stolen firearm. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on both charges. Circuit Court Judge Jannie Lewis sentenced Timms to a term of five years (three years suspended, two years to serve) in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections on the charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. On the charge of possession of a stolen firearm, Judge Lewis sentenced Timms to a term of five years in the custody of the MDOC. Judge Lewis ordered Timms to serve his sentences consecutively.

After the trial, Timms filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdicts. His post-trial motion was denied. Timms appeals from the verdicts of guilty on the charges of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and possession of a stolen firearm.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. WHETHER PROSECUTOR VIOLATED TIMMS' RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL WHEN HE COMMENTED ON TIMMS' FAILURE TO CALL THE OCCUPANTS IN THE VEHICLE AS WITNESSES IN HIS DEFENSE
- 2. WHETHER TIMMS' TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS SO DEFICIENT THAT IT DEPRIVED TIMMS OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL
- 3. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT SUA SPONTE SHOULD HAVE PREVENTED JURORS FROM HEARING OR RECEIVING EVIDENCE THAT TIMMS WAS CHARGED BUT NEVER CONVICTED OF POSSESSION OF A STOLEN FIREARM
- 4. WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE ERRORS IN THIS CASE DEPRIVED TIMMS OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of this case are hotly contested. Law enforcement officials in Goodman, Mississippi claim Timms, a convicted felon, confessed that he owned two guns found in the trunk of a vehicle in which he was a passenger on February 18, 2009.

At trial, Timms' defense counsel suggested that only a person who had taken a leave of his senses would admit to having guns in their possession if he had a prior conviction of possession of a firearm in the past. (T. p. 82, 1. 23-29).

The jury in Timms' trial on charges of felon in possession of a handgun and possession of a stolen handgun heard from three witnesses. The State subpoenaed and called two witnesses: Officer Ellington and Goodman Police Chief Noah Coffee. (C.P. 13). The State did not ask the clerk to issue subpoenaes for DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore or Joel Landfair, who were in the vehicle when the guns were discovered. (C.P.13). Although Timms subpoenaed two witnesses, he did not call either of them. (C.P. 15). Timms, however, took the witness stand in his own defense. (T. p. 108-118).

A review of the transcript produces three different accounts of what happened on February 18, 2009 when law enforcement officials encountered Timms.

At trial, the State called Ellington as its first witness. (T. p. 68). On February 18, 2008, Ellington worked as a patrolman for the Goodman Police Department. (T. p. 68, l. 16). Ellington testified that at approximately 7:45 p.m. on February 18, 2008, "we received a call that someone had a gun in Goodhaven apartments which was De - -- I think DeAndre Moore." (T. p. 69, l. 21-23). "And they stated that the car was leaving Goodhaven. And myself and two cars was sitting at a BP station in Goodman and we noticed a white vehicle that fit the description. And after stopping the vehicle, we noticed it was Eddie sitting in the rear and three other people

3

inside the car." (T. p. 69, l. 21-29), T. p. 70, l. 1). DeAndre Moore was driving the car. (T. p. 70, l. 2-3).

Ellington testified that when Moore's vehicle was stopped, Moore, Timms and Landfair got out of the vehicle. (T. p. 70, 1. 8-9). Ellington testified that the men were told to get back in the vehicle. (T. p. 70, 1. 10-12). Ellington testified that "he [Timms] remained standing out, talking to us." (T. p. 70, 1. 13-17). According to Ellington, Timms did not have any guns on his person. (T. p. 79, 18-23). DeAndre Moore, who reportedly was seen with the gun at the apartment complex, was driving the vehicle. (T. p. 70, 1. 3-4).

Ellington testified that "we just asked the driver if – did they have any weapons on 'em, and he stated no. And we asked him would he pop the trunk, and he popped the trunk, we noticed two shotguns laying in the trunk." (T. p. 70, l. 21-25). Ellington explained: "We asked the driver of the car would he open the trunk so could see whether there was weapons. Once we get a call there's weapons involved, that's probable cause to do a search on a vehicle." (T. p. 81, l. 3-11).

Ellington testified that he picked up one of the shotguns and Chief Coffee picked up the other shotgun. (T. p. 71, l. 8-13). Ellington testified that after "Chief Coffee retrieved the guns, he [Timms] stated, um, Chief, I think those guns are mine." (T. p. 71, l. 25-27). Ellington testified that Timms stated "um, something about somebody been stealing some dogs from him, and he needed it because they was stealing the dogs or something." (T. p. 72, l. 4-6). "He just volunteered that information." (T. p. 83, l. 17-19).

During his cross-examination of Ellington, the following colloquy took place between Ellington and Timms' trial counsel:

Q. And had you ever heard of Mr. Timms having any serious mental problems?

A. No, sir.

Q. Okay. Had he ever acted insane in your presence?

A. No, sir.

Q. Had anyone told you in the community that he was a crazy person?

A. No, Sir.

Q. Okay. And did you have occasion this day, or any day, to have any conversation with Mr. Timms to evaluate his mental status for yourself?

A. No, Sir.

Q. In his conversations with you and Mr. Coffee at the scene, did it appear that Mr. Timms had any kind of mental difficulties?

A. No, sir. (T. p. 79, 1. 24-20, p. 80, 1. 1-11).

Although the prosecutor did not question Ellington about Timms' previous felony conviction, Timms' trial counsel during cross-examination asked "Now, do you know anything about Mr. Timms' past, whether he had any kind of criminal record in the past, whether he'd ever been convicted of having a firearm in his possession in the past, for example?" (T. p. 82, l. 15-19). Ellington responded "Not knowing it, but have heard of it." (T. p. 82, l. 20). Timms' counsel did not object to hearsay. (T. p. 82, l. 15-29). Timms' counsel continued: "Okay. And you had heard that he had had a conviction for possession of a firearm in the past." (T. p. 82, l. 21-23). Ellington answered "No, sir." Timms' trial counsel then poised a hypothetical. "If Mr. Timms had had a prior conviction of possession of a firearm – and you said that he didn't act like he was mentally ill or you never knew him to be mentally ill – would it make sense for a man who had served time for the same type charge to admit –" (T. p. 82, l. 23-29). Before Ellington

responded, the prosecutor objected. (T. p. 83, l. 1-3). The court sustained the objection. (T. p. 83, l. 4).

On re-direct examination of Ellington, the prosecutor sought to introduce evidence of Timms' prior felony conviction. (T. p. 85). Timms' trial counsel did not make a motion to stipulate that Timms was a prior convicted felon. (*See*, Docket Sheet, Pleadings, Exhibits, Orders Filed, Dispositions, Etc.). The prosecutor stated "You Honor, I have what has been marked for identification purposes as Exhibit S-3 which is a certified copy of the commitment orders, Notice of Criminal Disposition, in Cause No. 10570 concerning Mr. Eddie Timms, as well as a true and correct copy of the indictment, which is also notarized by Ms. Hart, as well as the sentencing order which has been notarized and an order dismissing Count II of that indictment that we could offer into evidence at this time, Your Honor." (T. p. 85, 1. 10-20).

When asked by the trial judge if he had any objections, Timms' trial counsel answered "no ma'am." (T. p. 85, l. 21-24). The documents outlined above were admitted into evidence as Exhibit S-3. (T. p. 85, l. 25-26). The prosecutor asked Ellington to read count 1 of the indictment: "possession of cocaine enhanced by possession of a firearm." (T. p. 86, l. 12-18).

Chief Coffee described the events of February 18, 2008 like way. "Officer Ellington said to me, There the car go there. So he got in his car, I got in mine, and we followed them to make a stop." (T. p. 91, 1. 21-25). Chief Coffee testified "I ordered 'em both back in the car." (T. p. 93, 1. 6-7). "Um, I told the driver, the reason why we stopped you is, we got a report that someone in Goodhaven was walking around with a – with a gun and they left the area in a car that fit the description of the car you're driving. And I asked him did he have any weapons in the car. He said no. I shined my flash – my light in the car to see could – could I see a weapon. I didn't. Officer Ellington said, Pop the trunk. At that time Eddie was laying – leaning on the

trunk, and I asked him to move off the trunk." (T. p. 92, l. 13-24, T. p. 70, l. 26-28, and T. p. 71, l. 1-3).

Coffee testified that when Timms moved off the trunk, "I opened the trunk. There was the two sawed-off shotguns in the trunk." (T. p. 93, l. 13). "I grabbed hold to 'em, and immediately, I unloaded 'em. At that time Eddie said, Don't take my gun, man. I've had 'em a for a long time. He stated that somebody had been stealing his dogs, and he was on his way out there to check. And I told him – I said, You don't supposed to have these guns anyway. And he said, I can have a shotgun. And I asked him, Where you get that from? He said, It's the law. So we took possession of the weapons, and I told him I would get up with him later." (T. p. 93, l. 16-27).

Chief Coffee testified that Timms also said "At least let me keep one. And this was the one he chose out of the two." (T. p. 95, l. 22-27).

No arrests were made that night. (T. p. 81, l. 12-13). Although authorities claim Timms confessed on the scene, he was not arrested. (T. 84, p. 20-24). Chief Coffee testified that no one else in the car was charged because "the guns is illegal. He owned the gun. He admits – He claimed them." (T. p. 96, l. 12-20).

Chief Coffee also testified " [w]e went – we trans – we took the guns to the Goodman Police Department and locked them up and that – we finished the rest of our shift. Well, the next evening, Officer Ellington and I was on together and I asked him to run the serial numbers on the guns. That's when we discovered that one of the guns that was in their possession belong to Goodman Police Department. And, um, we didn't get a hit on the other one." (T. p. 93, 1.27-29, T. p. 94, 1. 1-7).

Ellington and Chief Coffee identified the weapons found in the vehicle as a Mossberg sawed-off 12-guage and a Remington 870 Express Magnum. (T. p. 73, l. 1-13, T. p. 74, l. 5-13, T. p. 94, l. 15-19, T. p. 95, l. 15-29, T. p. 96, l. 1-11). Ellington testified that he ran a background search on the Remington 870 Express Magnum. (T. p. 75, l. 9-24). "It come up stolen from the Goodman Police Department." (T. p. 75, l. 27-28). No fingerprints were lifted from the guns. (T. p. 81, l. 25-27).

Timms testified that he was a passenger in a car driven by DeAndre Moore. (T. p. 108, l. 26-28). When Officer Ellington and Chief Coffee stopped Moore, Moore and Timms exited the vehicle. (T. p. 109, l. 3-8). Timms testified "[w]e got out of the car when they pulled us over. Chief Coffee pulled his gun up and told us to go back with our hands in the air and get back in the car, and that's what we did." (T. p. 109, l. 9-15).

Timms testified that he did not have any conversations with Officer Ellington or Chief Coffee about anything found in the trunk of the car. (T. p. 109, l. 16-26). Timms' trial counsel asked him if he had ever been treated for mental illness. (T. p. 110, l. 29, T. p. 112, l. 1). Timms responded in the negative. (T. p. 112, l. 2). While on direct examination, Timms' trial counsel asked Timms: "Okay. As a sane person, knowing that you had been convicted of possession of a firearm in the past, would it have been logical for you to have said these are my guns in the trunk?" Timms testified "No, I did not say that." (T. p. 112, l. 3-7). Timms testified that he did not tell Ellington or Chief Coffee that the guns belonged to him. (T. p. 112, l. 12-14).

During the State's cross-examination of Timms, the prosecutor asked Timms about his relationships with DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore and Joel Landfair. (T. p. 113, l. 8-29). The prosecutor elicited testimony to show that Timms was close friends to DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore and Joel Landfair. (T. p. 113, l. 8-29). The prosecutor did not ask Timms why he didn't

call DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore and Joel Landfair as witnesses in his defense. (T. p. 113-116).

The State began closing arguments by pointing to Exhibit S-3. The prosecutor stated "it's a notice of criminal disposition form the Mississippi Department of Corrections. And it talks about Count I in Cause No. 10570. It says right here possession of cocaine enhanced by possession of a firearm at the time of arrest... The charge in that case in count I was possession of cocaine enhanced by possession of a firearm at the time of a firearm at the time of arrest and, basically, the indictment reads 1.62 grams more or less of cocaine. That doesn't really matter." (T. p. 127, l. 7-20).

In closing argument, the prosecutor also argued "All he [Timms] had to do was push a button. And he didn't have to testify. That was his God-given right and you couldn't hold it against him. But since he chose to testify, I can comment on his case and the evidence that was presented. Where are DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore, and Joel Landfair? He's got access to the clerk's office just like we do. He can subpoen anybody he wants to, and door would have been busting wide open with folks coming to his aid if there was a person in existence that could have come to his aid. And the reason it didn't happen is because there was nobody that could testify for him. (T. p. 131, 1. 18-29, T. p. 132, 1. 1).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. TIMMS WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTOR COMMENTED DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS THAT TIMMS FAILED TO CALL THE OCCUPANTS OF THE VEHICLES AS WITNESSES TO HIS DEFENSE
- 2. TIMMS' TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS SO DEFICIENT THAT IT DEPRIVED TIMMS OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL
- 3. THE TRIAL COURT *SUA SPONTE* SHOULD HAVE PREVENTED JURORS FROM HEARING OR RECEIVING EVIDENCE THAT TIMMS WAS CHARGED BUT NEVER CONVICTED OF POSSESSION OF A STOLEN FIREARM IN THE ABSENCE OF CONDUCTING A BALANCING TEST UNDER MRE 403
- 4. THE CUMULATIVE ERRORS IN THIS CASE DENIED TIMMS HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL

ARGUMENT

WHETHER TIMMS WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTOR DURING CLOSE ARGUMENT COMMENTED THAT TIMMS FAILED TO CALL THE OCCUPANTS IN THE VEHICLE AS WITNESSES TO HIS DEFENSE

Timms is guaranteed a fair trial under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The Sixth Amendment states "in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." U.S. Const. Amend. VI. Article 3 § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution provides that "in all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have a right to be heard by himself or counsel, or both, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation, to be confronted by the witnesses against him, to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and , in all prosecutions by indictment or information, a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury of the county where the offense was committed;..."

It is well established in Mississippi jurisprudence that "it is improper to comment on the failure of either party to call a witness equally accessible to both parties." *Ross v. State*, 603 So.2d 857, 864 (Miss. 1992). In *Taylor v. State*, 672 So.2d 1246, 1270 (Miss. 1996), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that "an improper comment on the failure to call a witness does not require reversal unless the probable effect of the improper comment created unjust prejudice against the accused resulting in a decision influenced by prejudice."

In the case *sub judice*, the prosecutor during closing argument told the jury: "And he didn't have to testify. That was his God-given right and you couldn't hold it against him. But since he chose to testify, I can comment on his case and the evidence that was presented. Where are DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore, and Joel Landfair? He's got access to the clerk's office just like we do. He can subpoen anybody he wants to, and that door would have been busting wide open with folks coming to his aid if there was a person in existence that could have come to his aid. And the reason it didn't happen is because there was nobody that could testify for him." (T. P. 131, 1. 18-29).

A review of the court papers in this case shows that the State made no effort to secure DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore and Joel Landfair as witnesses in this matter. The State requested the clerk of court to issue subpoenaes for Ellington and Chief Coffee. During the presentation of its case-in-chief, the prosecutor did not elicit any testimony from Ellington or Chief Coffee to show that DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore or Joel Landfair were uncooperative. In the absence of any attempt by the State to secure the testimony of DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore or Joel Landfair, this Court should find the prosecutor's comments particularly troubling. There was only one conclusion that the jury could have drawn from the prosecutor's comments. That is, Timms did not call DeAndre Moore, Phyllis Moore, and Joel Landfair because their testimony was favorable to the State. If that were so, the prosecutor should have called them as witnesses. Had the prosecutor called them as witnesses, Timms would have been able to crossexamine them.

Here, the prosecutor presented no evidence that DeAndre Moore, Phyliss Moore and Joel Landfair were not equally accessible to the State as they may have been to Timms. In the absence of such a showing, this Court should find that the prosecutor's comments require

reversal because it created unjust prejudice against Timms "resulting in a decision influenced by prejudice."

TIMMS' TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS SO DEFICIENT THAT IT DEPRIVED TIMMS OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL

As stated above, the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 3 § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution guarantee Timms a right to be represented by counsel. In *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d (1984), the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-part test to establish claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. The Mississippi Supreme Court adopted the two-part test set forth in *Strickland* in *Stringer v. State*. 454 So.2d 468 (Miss. 1984). Once a defendant proves that his trial counsel's performance is deficient, he must "show a 'reasonable probability' that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, a different outcome would have resulted at trial." Id. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

In *Moody v. State*, 644 S.2d 451 (Miss. 1994) the Mississippi Supreme Court held that defense counsel's efforts were both deficient and prejudicial. In *Moody*, the Court noted that there were twenty-one instances of deficient performance which were confirmed by the record.

The performance of Timms' trial counsel is akin to the performance of defense counsel in *Moody*. First, Timms' trial counsel failed to seek a stipulation that Timms was a prior convicted felon before the trial commenced. In *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 186, 117 S.Ct. 644, 136 L.Ed.2d 574 (1997), the court held that the trial court committed reversible error when it allowed the prosecution to present evidence of prior assault conviction to prove that the

defendant was a prior convicted felon in possession of a firearm. The U.S. Supreme Court noted that the defendant offered to stipulate that he was a prior convicted felon.

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