EDDIE TIMMS

APPELLANT

VS.

1.

NO. 2009-KA-0955

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State of Mississippi concedes that it was error to allow evidence of the Appellant's prior charge for possession of a stolen weapon before the jury as the Appellant was never convicted of said charge. However, the Appellant is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal as he did not contemporaneously object to the admission of the evidence nor did he raise it in motion for new trial. As such, the Appellant is entitled to have his conviction and sentenced reversed and the matter remanded back to the trial court for a new trial <u>if, and only if</u>, his substantial and fundamental rights were violated by the error and if the error prejudiced the outcome of the trial.

The Appellant is also procedurally barred from arguing that certain comments made during the prosecution's closing arguments deprived him of his right to a fair trial as there was no contemporaneous objection and as the issue was not addressed in the Appellant's motion for new trial. Thus, the Appellant's only available argument is that allowing the comments in question rises to the level of plain error. But, the prosecutor's comments do not rise to the level of plain error as the comments did not impact a fundamental right nor did they prejudice the outcome of the trial. Factors evidencing that the verdict was not affected by the comments include the jury being properly instructed with regard to closing arguments prior to closing argument and the sufficiency of the evidence presented supporting the verdict.

The Appellant failed to establish that he was denied effective assistance of counsel. On direct appeal, ineffective assistance of counsel must be established from the record. The deficiencies asserted on appeal are considered trial strategy and appellate courts only second guess matters of trial strategy in exceptional circumstances. Moreover, two of the three deficiencies asserted were "failure

to object" claims which <u>cannot give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim</u>. Additionally, the Appellant did not show how his counsel's over-all performance prejudiced his case other than to assert that it did prejudice his case.

ARGUMENT

I. WHILE THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CONCEDES THAT IT WAS ERROR TO ALLOW EVIDENCE OF THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR CHARGE FOR POSSESSION OF A STOLEN WEAPON BEFORE THE JURY, THE APPELLANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THE ISSUE ON APPEAL AND IS, THEREFORE, NOT ENTITLED TO HAVE HIS CONVICTION REVERSED AND THE MATTER REMANDED BACK TO THE TRIAL COURT BECAUSE THE ERROR DID NOT AFFECT THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL.

Mississippi law states that "[e]vidence of prior offenses committed by a defendant, not resulting in a conviction, is generally inadmissible either for impeachment purposes or as a part of the State's case in chief." *Neal v. State*, 451 So.2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984). *See also Brown v. State*, 483 So.2d 328, 330 (Miss. 1986). As noted by the *Neal* Court, there are some exceptions to this rule including, but not limited to, the State's right to tell a rational and coherent story and when the prior criminal activity is so interrelated to the crime to be proved as to constitute a single transaction or occurrence. However, none of these exceptions were present in the case at hand.

The State, in order to prove a necessary element of the crime of being a convicted felon in possession of a firearm, submitted evidence that the Appellant was, in fact, previously convicted of a felony. In so doing, the State entered into evidence various documents regarding the Appellant's prior conviction for possession of cocaine enhanced by possession of a firearm at the time of arrest. (Exhibit S-3). The indictment entered into evidence as part of this exhibit indicated that the Appellant was being charged with one count of possession of cocaine enhanced by possession of a stolen firearm. (Exhibit S-3, p. 2-3). The sentencing order entered into evidence as part of this exhibit indicated that the Appellant

was convicted of the charge of possession of cocaine enhanced by possession of a firearm at the time of arrest and sentenced to "five (5) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections, suspended upon completion of six (6) months in the House Arrest Program." (Exhibit S-3, p. 4). The motion/order for nolle prosequi which was also part of this exhibit indicated that the charge of being in possession of a stolen firearm was nolle prossed. (Exhibit S-3, p. 5).

In light of the above mentioned case law, and more recent case law noting the possibility of the jury being prejudiced by evidence of a prior conviction or charge for the same crime as the one in which the defendant is currently being tried, the State now concedes that the jury should not have been allowed to see evidence of the Appellant's prior charge. *See Williams v. State*, 991 So.2d 593, 605-06 (Miss. 2008) and *Sawyer v. State*, 2 So.3d 655, 660-61 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

This issue is, however, procedurally barred as the Appellant failed to contemporaneously object to the admission of the evidence. Mississippi law provides that "if no contemporaneous objection is made, the error, if any, is waived." *Smith v. State*, 984 So.2d 295, 307 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Walker v. State*, 671 So.2d 581, 597 (Miss.1995)). Additionally, the matter was not raised in the Appellant's motion for new trial.

When a matter is not brought to the trial court's attention during trial, the Appellant's only argument on appeal is that the matter rises to the level of plain error. This Court has previously held that it "may address an issue as plain error <u>only when the trial court's error has impacted a</u> <u>fundamental right of the defendant</u>." *Id. (emphasis added). See also Ratliff v. State,* 906 So.2d 133, 136 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (holding the Court "applies the plain error rule only when it affects a defendant's substantive/fundamental rights"). "To determine if plain error has occurred, [the Court] must determine 'if the trial court has deviated from a legal rule, whether that error is plain, clear or obvious, and whether the error has prejudiced the outcome of the trial." Smith, 984 So.2d

at 307. (quoting Cox v. State, 793 So.2d 591, 597 (Miss.2001)).

While the State agrees that an error occurred, the error is only grounds for reversal "if it affects the final result of the case." *Vardaman v. State*, 966 So.2d 885, 891 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). It appears from the record in this case that it did not. The record indicates that the jury could have easily found the Appellant guilty regardless of the improper evidence. Two police officers testified that the Appellant admitted that the guns belonged to him. (Transcript p. 71, 84, 93, 95 and 101). There was evidence that the Appellant was a previously convicted felon supporting his conviction of being a felon in possession of a firearm and there was evidence that one of the guns was stolen supporting his conviction of being in possession of a stolen weapon. (Transcript p. 75, 86 - 87, and 94). Clearly, the jury had sufficient evidence to convict the Appellant of both charges.

Further evidencing that the jury was unaffected by the evidence are the notes exchanged between the jury and trial judge. The original verdict in Count II was written as follows: "We, the jury find the Defendant Eddie Timms, guilty of possession of a stolen firearm by a convicted felon charged in Count II of the indictment." (Record p. 32). The trial judge responded to the verdict with the following instruction: "Does your finding the defendant guilty of Count II have anything relevant to the finding that the defendant is a convicted felon? If no, look at instruction 6 and return your verdict in accordance with instruction 6. If yes, leave as is." (Record p. 32). In response, the jury returned the verdict in accordance with instruction 6 indicating that they did not consider the fact that the defendant was a convicted felon in reaching their verdict.

In conclusion, the State concedes that an error occurred; however, the Appellant is entitled to have his conviction and sentenced reversed and the matter remanded back to the trial court for a new trial ONLY if this Court finds that his substantial and fundamental rights were violated and if the Court finds that the error prejudiced the outcome of the trial. The State asserts that this error does not constitute a reversible error the jury was not prejudiced by the evidence.

II. THE APPELLANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM ARGUING THAT CERTAIN COMMENTS MADE DURING THE PROSECUTION'S CLOSING ARGUMENT DEPRIVED HIM OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AND THE COMMENTS DO NOT RISE TO THE LEVEL OF PLAIN ERROR.

The Appellant argues that he "was deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to a fair and impartial trial when the prosecutor commented during closing arguments that [he] failed to call the occupants of the vehicles as witnesses to his defense." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). He specifically takes issue with the portion of the prosecutor's closing argument wherein the prosecutor discusses the Appellant's failure to call certain witnesses. (Appellant's Brief p. 12). The Appellant is, however, procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal because no contemporaneous objection was raised and because the matter was not raised in his motion for new trial. The Mississippi Supreme Court held in *Walker v. State*, that it had on numerous occasions refused to consider the issue of prosecutorial misconduct in the form of improper closing arguments where the defendant did not raise it at trial. 913 So.2d 198, 238 (Miss. 2005). The *Walker* Court also noted its previous holding in *Williams v. State*, wherein defense counsel did not object to prosecutor's closing argument, and the Court held that "[t]he failure of an objection is fatal." *Id.* (quoting *Williams v. State*, 512 So.2d 666, 672 (Miss.1987)). Therefore, the Appellant must again rely on the plain error doctrine.

As noted in the State's argument regarding the first issue, this Court may only address an issue as plain error "when the trial court's error has impacted a fundamental right of the defendant." *Smith*, 984 So.2d at 307 (*emphasis added*). Mississippi law also states that in order "[t]o determine if plain error has occurred, [the Court] must determine 'if the trial court has deviated from a legal rule, whether that error is plain, clear or obvious, and whether the error has prejudiced the outcome

of the trial." *Id. (emphasis added*). The Appellant argues that these arguments "created unjust prejudice" against him; however, the State would counter that the arguments did not prejudice the outcome of the trial. First, as set forth above, there was substantial evidence of the Appellant's guilt. Additionally, the jury was instructed that their decision was to be based on the evidence and that the arguments of counsel are not evidence. Specifically, the jury was instructed that:

... Your decision about what happened must be based entirely upon the evidence, which is the testimony and exhibits produced here in court during this trial, and must not be based upon any guesswork or speculation.... After I have completed reading these instructions, the attorneys will make closing arguments. These arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. But, the arguments are not evidence. Therefore, if a statement is made during the argument which is not based upon evidence, you should disregard the statement entirely....

(Record p. 21 - 22). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "<u>when a jury is properly</u> <u>instructed that statements made by counsel are not evidence, reversal is not required</u>." *Burns v. State,* 729 So.2d 203, 229 (Miss.1998) (citing *Ormond v. State*, 599 So.2d 951, 961 (Miss.1992) (*emphasis added*). Further, "[j]urors are presumed to follow the instructions of the court." *Long v. State*, 934 So.2d 313, 316 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)(citing *Grayson v. State*, 879 So.2d 1008, 1020(Miss.2004)). "To presume otherwise would be to render the jury system inoperable." *Id*.

Accordingly, the comments at issue do not rise to the level of plain error. As such, a new trial is not warranted based upon this issue.

III. THE APPELLANT FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT HE WAS DENIED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Appellant next argues that his "trial counsel's performance was so deficient that it deprived [him] of his constitutional right to counsel and a fair and impartial trial." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). While a defendant may raise the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, "this Court may determine the merits of the claim only when '(a) ... the record affirmatively

shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (b) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate and the Court determines that findings of fact by the trial judge able to consider the demeanor of witnesses, etc. are not needed." *Clayton v. State*, 946 So.2d 796, 803 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). **"A conclusion that the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions is equivalent to a finding that the trial court should have declared a mistrial or ordered a new trial** *sua sponte.***"** *Id.* **(citing** *Colenburg v. State***, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102 (Miss. Ct. App.1999) (***Emphasis added***). The record in this case does not demonstrate that the trial court should have declared a mistrial or ordered a new trial** *sua sponte* **because of the quality of defense counsel's representation of the Appellant and, therefore, does not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.**

With regard to ineffective assistance of counsel claims, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held the following:

In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must prove (1) that his attorney's overall performance was deficient and (2) that the deficient performance, if any, was so substantial as to prejudice the defendant and deprive him of a fair trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Furthermore, there is a "strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Walters v. State*, 720 So.2d 856, 868 (Miss.1998). To overcome this presumption, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Schmitt v. State*, 560 So.2d 148, 154 (Miss.1990). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* "Only where it is reasonably probable that, but for the attorney's errors, the outcome of the trial would have been different will this Court find the counsel's performance was deficient." *Id.*

Smiley v. State, 815 So.2d 1140, 1146-47 (Miss.2002) (quoting Gary v. State, 760 So.2d 743, 753 (Miss.2000)) (Emphasis added). "The target of appellate scrutiny in evaluating the deficiency and prejudice prongs of Strickland is counsel's 'over-all' performance." Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767,

775 (Miss. 1995) (*emphasis added*). Moreover, this Court held that "[i]n addition to the presumption that counsel's conduct is reasonably professional, there is a presumption that counsel's decision are strategic in nature, rather than negligent." *Alonso v. State*, 838 So.2d 309, 313 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

The Appellant contends that his counsel was ineffective for three reasons, each of which can be classified as "trial strategy." The *Smiley* Court, first noting that attorneys were given "wide latitude" regarding trial strategy, held that:

This Court gives much deference to an attorney's trial tactics. As this Court has stated: Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. *Cf. Engle v. Isaac*, 456 U.S. 107, 133-134 [102 S.Ct. 1558, 1574-75, 71 L.Ed.2d 783] (1982). A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. *Lambert v. State*, 462 So.2d 308, 316 (Miss.1984), citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d at 694. The right to effective counsel does not entitle the defendant to have an attorney who makes no mistakes at trial. The defendant just has a right to have competent counsel.

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